President Halligan called the meeting to order with the following members present: Allen, Allison, Anderson, Bertholf, Buchanan, Cole, Farr, Finn, Gasem, Gethner, Horn, Kimbrell, Krenzer, Lawry, Marks, Moder, Paustenbaugh, Richards, Robinson, Schwarz, Scott, Smith, and Williams. Also present: Beer, Birdwell, Collins, Harrison, Keener, Matoy, Schlais, Sim, and Watkins. Absent: Ackerson, Boswell, Dawson, Lau, Moretti, Warde, and Wilkinson.

HIGHLIGHTS

Report of Status of Faculty Council Recommendations	1
Reports of Standing Committees	2
Academic Standards and Policies	
Faculty	2
Faculty Appointment Periods	
On the Timing of Raises and A&D Reports	
Long-Range Planning	
Revise the By-Laws of Faculty Council to Include a Research Committee	
Retirement and Fringe Benefits	6
Rules and Procedures	
Student Affairs and Learning Resources	7
Liaison Representative Reports	
Staff Advisory Council	
Athletic Council	
Emeriti Association	8
Grade Book Auditing	8
•	

Dr. Allison moved acceptance of the February 11, 1997, Minutes. Dr. Horn seconded the motion. Dr. Bertholf reported that the minutes needed to be amended by changing "Graduate Student Council" to "Graduate Student Association" in both the Highlights and on page 8. The minutes were approved as amended. Dr. Horn moved acceptance of the March 11, 1997, Agenda. Dr. Williams seconded the motion. The Agenda was approved.

REPORT OF STATUS OF FACULTY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS:

President Halligan, Executive Vice President and Vice Presidents

1. 92-03-01-FAC

Fixed Terms for Administrators: Dr. Halligan reported that Legal Counsel had reviewed the proposal and that he and Mr. Fern would meet with Dr. Keener, Dr. Moretti, and Dr. Buchanan to discuss the issue. Legal Counsel has raised several questions that complicate the procedure.

2. 94-12-01-SALR

Composition of Future Information Technology Committee: Dr. Keener reported that he is now reviewing a new draft and will send his comments to Dr. Birdwell.

- 3. 96-05-01-LRP **Strategic Management:** A meeting is being scheduled for administration to interact with Buchanan and others. This initial exchange of ideas will provide a base from which to further clarify and develop OSU's strategic management procedure.
- 4. 96-10-01(1)-FAC **On Summer Compensation (1):** Under study. Jack Vitek has initiated discussions on this issue, and is currently reviewing the details.
- 5. 96-10-01(2)-FAC **On Summer Compensation (2):** Under study. Jack Vitek has initiated discussions on this issue, and is currently reviewing the details.
- 6. 96-12-04-FAC **Changes in Appendix D:** Under study. Dr. Keener is coordinating the review, with the draft changes currently under review by Legal Counsel.
- 7. 97-02-01-ASP **Adding a Course:** Under study. Dr. Keener is coordinating the administrative review, to include Deans Council.
- 8. 97-03-02-FAC *Faculty Appointment Periods:* To President Halligan.
- 9. 97-03-03-LRP **Revise the By-Laws of Faculty Council to Include a Research Committee:** To President Halligan.

REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES:

A. ACADEMIC STANDARDS AND POLICY — Joe Williams

Dr. Williams reported that the committee will probably have three recommendations to bring forward next meeting. The committee is currently working on the consideration of a plusminus grading system. The faculty has shown interest in such a system. The committee has developed a survey to seek student opinion on the system. If the students also support such a change, the committee will draft a proposal asking the administration to seek the Regents approval for the implementation of such a system. One of the recommendations to be brought forward next time is on the scheduling of final exams in an effort to reduce the number of conflicts. The committee is studying the methods for choosing the Dean's and President's lists. They are also considering a proposal for OSU to give graduation honors, such as "with distinction," and "with high distinction."

B. FACULTY — Ed Lawry

Dr. Lawry reported that the committee was asked by Dr. Keener to act as a screening committee to review applications for the Big Twelve Faculty Fellowships. Their recommendation has been forwarded to Dr. Keener. There was a very good response to the call for applications. Dr. Lawry commended the Big Twelve Provosts for their efforts in originating this program. Dr. Keener said that the committee's recommendation was being reviewed by people in his office and that the letters should be going out in the next few days. The committee is continuing its work on the Reappointment, Promotion and Tenure Policy

and Procedure Letter. The committee hopes to bring its recommendation to the Council in April or May. With the help of Adrienne Hyle and Michael Mills, the committee has developed a survey to be sent to all faculty to determine their level of satisfaction with the A&D process. Dr. Lawry urges the faculty to complete the survey and return it to the committee. committee has also had some preliminary discussion involving term limits for administrators at the Deans level or above. The committee has also been asked to look at how the current evaluations of administrators are being used. The first recommendation came to the committee because the library staff was having a good deal of difficulty in adjusting to the 11 month contract. However, there are other faculty that feel uneasy about having 9 month or 11 month contracts without vacation periods. The committee presented the following recommendation: The Faculty Council Recommends to President Halligan that: OSU faculty be permitted to choose appointment periods either with vacation (10 or 12 month) or without vacation (9 or 11 month), and before the beginning of each fiscal year they be permitted to change their period of appointment for that coming year. The committee checked with Anne Matoy and Joe Weaver on this and they both said, "do not do this to us." However, the committee's opinion is that there would be very few changes after each faculty member made his/her original choice. Dr. Buchanan asked if the committee viewed the procedure to be that the current status would be the default. That is, if a faculty member did not initiate a change then no change would be made. Dr. Lawry indicated that it could be handled very much like the flex benefits. The motion passed. The second recommendation was initiated because of the decision to start raises in the fall instead of July 1. committee was asked to consider changing the timing of the A&D process to better match with the date the raises take effect. It seemed to be in the best interest of faculty and possibly for the university as a whole to start raises in July instead of changing the A&D process. Given that the university has a priority of raising faculty salaries up to the level of peer institutions in the Big Twelve, it should commit itself to giving faculty the highest possible raise at the earliest possible moment. The faculty knows that enrollment affects the budget and in turn it affects the money available for raises. However, by early summer enrollment estimates should be sufficiently accurate to be able to give raises and adjust for any shortfall in the budget caused by a small over estimate in enrollment by making adjustments in some other area. There is a widespread suspicion on the part of faculty that the money which would have normally been given in raises from July to Fall is being used by the administration for special projects at the expense of faculty salaries hidden behind a smoke screen of enrollment figures. This is undoubtedly not true. It would be difficult to eliminate such suspicions from the minds of many faculty, since explanation of why this is not so would require showing virtually every item in the university budget. Keeping to a practice which excites such suspicions is unwise, especially when there are relatively easy ways to adhere to the July 1 deadlines and still protect the budget against most shortfalls. Dr. Lawry moved the following recommendation: The Faculty Council recommends to President Halligan that: The Faculty favors a time frame for Appraisal and Development activities during Spring semesters so that faculty are evaluated for the calendar year. Additionally, the university should restore a July 1 date to general faculty raises, the date on which a new fiscal year begins and by which a budget for the coming year should be in place. (The complete recommendation can be seen in the Faculty Council Office, 312 PIO Building.) Dr. Buchanan asked if it was not in conflict to ask for the highest possible raise at the earliest possible time. The early date will naturally cause the administration to be more conservative about raises. Dr. Lawry replied that it was possible for the budget to be bigger than estimated and in that

case there was no reason that the administration could not give a second raise. Dr. Halligan said that from his perspective the greater the degree of certainty you have, the greater confidence you have in being able to give raises. He has an objective of raising faculty salaries to the level of the Big Twelve universities, but that due to uncertainties in the university budget he can not commit to raising salaries to that level. Any prudent individual will be more conservative when making decisions before all the information is known than they will be after getting the information. Dr. Halligan added that it takes about 45 days lead time to give a raise and so to start the raise on July 1, the estimates would need to be in by May 15. Any administrator has to be very conservative under those circumstances. It also helps our image outside the university to show that students are important to us. Dr. Allison asked if it was true that President Boren was going along with fall raises. Dr. Halligan replied that OU gave fall raises last year. Dr. Birdwell added that the year before OU did not have a raise program. Dr. Moder said that she had been told that faculty raises were given in July last year. Dr. Keener replied that there may have been examples of July 1 raises, but Dr. Mergler told him that OU's salary program went into effect in October. Dr. Lawry said that this is not a popular decision amongst the faculty and that faculty morale is very important to carry on the work of the university. Dr. Schwarz asked if the two parts of the recommendation had to be tied together. Dr. Lawry replied that if it is going to be university policy to give raises in October then the timing of A&D should be reconsidered. However, there are other things to be considered when deciding the timing of A&D, such as faculty availability during the summer and reappointment decisions. Dr. Lawry also recommended that if raises are going to be given in the fall then the administration should make it a university policy and announce it to the faculty. Dr. Moder said that even if this recommendation is not approved by the Faculty Council or the administration, then something should be done to address the morale problem. One suggestion would be to talk to the faculty about the difference in the amount of money allocated for raises in October as opposed to July. Dr. Horn asked what the faculty concern involved. Dr. Lawry replied that no one knows but the concern he has heard is that money is allocated in July. If a faculty member is to get a \$200 per month raise then the money for July - September is being spent somewhere else. Dr. Halligan added that the budget process is now open to everyone. Any faculty member can attend the budget hearings. Dr. Lawry said that faculty are suspicious of budget figures since they can be manipulated. However, if you can show that improvements are being made in faculty salaries, with regard to the other Big Twelve Universities, then the faculty will be much happier. Dr. Halligan reported that gains have been made in overall average salaries during the last few years but there is still room to do more. Dr. Birdwell added that over the last seven years any raise program of more that 3.2% would move you up. Three years ago OSU said it wanted to be at the average of the Big Eight. That goal is close to a reality, but now the standard has been raised a little with the addition of the four new schools to make the Big Twelve. Dr. Lawry suggested that raises could be announced in July but only a lower percentage given at that time. If enrollment meets the prediction then the rest of the raise would be given in October. If enrollment did not meet expectations then the lower number would remain in effect. Dr. Horn said that faculty would be even more inclined to think games were being played with the budget if the lower number was used. Dr. Kimbrell asked how accurate the May enrollment projections were last year. Dr. Birdwell replied that the university missed its budget projections by \$300,000 last year. Dr. Gasem said that the major problem was the faculty perception of the use of the money and we

should be discussing how to improve the faculty's perception. The motion failed. Dr. Lawry said that the committee would reconsider the question of moving the A&D process.

C. LONG-RANGE PLANNING — Dave Buchanan

Dr. Buchanan reported that it had been brought to the attention of the committee that there are several committees specifically devoted to student issues but no committee that is specifically devoted to research. In some cases some research related items, like the Conflict of Interest Policy, have been referred to other committees which were not specifically staffed to deal with research related items. The idea of an Extension Committee was raised during the Executive Committee Meeting. The needs in that area have not been assessed. Dr. Buchanan moved: The Faculty Council Recommends to President Halligan that: the By-Laws of Faculty Council be amended with the following addition: B:5:i: Research Committee: two or more members from Faculty Council, three members from the General Faculty and one Emeritus faculty member. This committee shall formulate and recommend policies concerning research activities at OSU. Some issues, which may fall into the domain of this committee, would include: research productivity goals, research funding, intellectual property rights, patents, conflict of interest, distribution of indirect costs, awards for research activities, research centers, cross-cutting research needs. The motion carried. The other item from the Long-Range Planning Committee was the two page document on transfer students that was attached to the Agenda. This was not a recommendation but was included as a discussion item. The committee will consider the input from the faculty and make a decision as to whether to bring a recommendation, write a white paper or hand the topic off to another committee. Dr. Buchanan highlighted some of the summary statements in the document. Three of the top five feeder institutions for OSU are much closer to Tulsa than they are to Stillwater. So, a four-year state institution in Tulsa could have a large effect on OSU's transfer enrollment. OSU has many programs to help orientate freshman students while we do only a few things to orientate transfer students and in some cases the transfer student is less equipped to deal with OSU than the freshman. Dr. Gasem said that in many cases our transfer students are at a great disadvantage. Dr. Beer said that there are orientation activities for transfer students but the challenge is how to get them to participate. Many of the students expect OSU to be like their past institution and are not interested in orientation activities but structure, policy, procedures, and opportunities can all be different from institution to institution. We may have to have a program that starts a little later when they have discovered that OSU is different than their last institution in order to get better participation. We could consider orientation classes just for transfers and not intermingle. Dr. Beer added that there is an Alpha Committee that has some faculty representation and a member of the LRP committee or SALR committee could be added to that committee. Dr. Buchanan said that the LRP committee is more concerned with raising issues than with setting policy. So, they would probably not handle the details of implementing a program. Dr. Krenzer said there seems to be a bigger retention problem with transfer students than there is with freshmen. It is possible that the academic shock is as great for the transfer student as it is for the freshmen. Dr. Schwarz commented that there is a perception amongst some faculty that the transfer student is not academically equivalent to the other students. Dr. Moder asked if there are scholarship opportunities for transfer students and if so are they as plentiful as those for freshman. Dr. Beer replied that there were some but definitely not as much support as for freshmen. Dr. Moder added that we could be missing a lot of transfer students by not having financial aid available. Dr. Keener said the major growth in scholarship

FACULTY COUNCIL MINUTES March 11, 1997 Page 6

funding over the past few years is in the departments and colleges. Dr. Halligan said that the current policy was to allow givers to designate where their gift goes and not force all scholarship gifts to be given to university scholarships. This policy should encourage more and larger gifts. Dr. Williams replied that Agricultural Economics has some scholarship money and does a good job of recruiting transfer students but in many cases they selfdestruct in their first semester and possibly lose their scholarship. OSU needs to develop some mentoring programs to help these students. It is not a new problem. The transfer student faces a real cultural shock. The faculty at many of the smaller institutions work closely with the students in small classes and individually. They come here and face a different level of competition in the classroom. Dr. Krenzer asked if the retention problem for transfer students was being made worse by students who were not eligible to enter OSU when they graduated from high school but are entering after attending another institution. Ms. Watkins replied that Institutional Research has statistics that show that the students from Tulsa that transfer to OSU have a higher graduation rate than students from Tulsa who start at OSU as freshmen. Dr. Beer suggested that we invite Lee Tarrant and Mary Jane Warde to address the problems that transfer students are having at OSU. Dr. Halligan suggested that we have a special report next time on the issue and to also invite Joe Weaver to share some of the statistics related to transfer students.

D. RETIREMENT AND FRINGE BENEFITS — Steve Marks

Dr. Marks gave an update on the status of the bid process for the fringe benefits package. There were 33 bids submitted for the 6 packages. A committee of 28 people worked most of the month of February analyzing the bids. The criteria were to analyze the service, the benefits, the cost and the compliance. There was a good open discussion of which bids should be accepted. The long-term disability went to American Fidelity. The benefits to the employee were enhanced. The old plan had a 66% benefit that was taxed and the new one has a 60% benefit that is tax exempt. Life insurance went to American Fidelity. There was a major change in the dental plan. The state plan was chosen to provide the dental insurance and should provide better benefits than the old plan. There will be meetings starting on March 26 to inform those enrolled in the old plan of the new rules, regulations, and cost. Watch for the announcements of these meetings. Those not in the plan will be given the opportunity to enroll with a starting date of July 1. The third party administrator for the health care was awarded to American Fidelity as was the Flex Benefits plan. The flex plan will be run at no cost to the university since it is being run by the third party administrator. This will allow users to file claims for insurance payments and for their portion of the co-payment to be taken from the flex plan on one form. The committee has shortened the list of PPO providers to two companies, PPO of Oklahoma and Preferred Community Choice. The committee is studying contracts and directories and is trying to make a choice that is good for people in Stillwater, for those across the State, and for those outside the State. The committee will be making a choice this month and will bring the recommendation to Faculty Council in April. The target date for the PPO is also July 1. The user will have the option of going outside the PPO, with the same benefits as the current plan, or go within the plan, with the PPO, and have some reduction in their out-of-pocket health care costs. Most of the Stillwater physicians are in both PPO's. Be sure to read your mail since there will be several changes as of July 1. Dr. Marks thanked Dr. Birdwell and Anne Matoy for setting up a process that allowed faculty input. Dr. Horn asked if people will be given a list of which physicians are participating when they are asked to sign up for a PPO. Dr. Marks said that there would be a

lot of information provided including rate schedules for both participants and non-participants. The PPO arrangement should give a 90 - 10 split with no cost shifting, whereas the old plan gave a 80 - 20 split and included some cost shifting. Another benefit of the PPO is that the Warren Clinic, for example, will file the claim for you if you are part of the PPO and will not otherwise.

E. RULES AND PROCEDURES — Rich Paustenbaugh

As of February 10, eight nominees were still needed to complete the slate. Candidates are still needed in the following areas: Group III — Physical Sciences, 1; Group IV — Social Sciences, 1; Group V — Teacher Education, 2 (to serve a one-year term), Arts & Sciences, 1; College of Business, 1 (to serve a one-year term); and Multicultural, 2 (to serve a one-year term). If nominees are not received for these positions from the faculty then the nominating committee will be asked to complete the slate. The ballots will be in the mail by March 21, and are to be returned by April 4. Discussion followed on why it is always difficult to get people to run. Mr. Paustenbaugh said most faculty feel that they have a full work load and do not put themselves forward. In the last minute, at a point of desperation, people will come forward. Dr. Buchanan suggested that higher administration could ask the department heads and deans not to discourage people from serving on Faculty Council. Dr. Halligan agreed.

F. STUDENT AFFAIRS AND LEARNING RESOURCES — Gretchen Schwarz

The committee is continuing to explore issues concerning improving teaching for special needs students. This months meeting will be in the Library to see a room that uses technology to meet the needs of these students.

REPORTS OF LIAISON REPRESENTATIVES

Staff Advisory Council — Becky Schlais

A Staff Advisory Council Scholarship will be given in the fall. They will be able to award up to \$3000 to a staff member. The Council has been giving presentations on PPOs and on the Compensation Commission. There will be a blood drive on March 25. The SAC is also going through the nomination process.

Athletic Council: Dennis Bertholf

The Academic Integrity Committee met and were given the following information: Eleven student-athletes earned a 4.0 GPA for the fall semester and 8 were named to the President's Honor Roll. Forty-two student-athletes earned a GPA higher or equal to a 3.5 and 29 were named to their college's Dean's Honor Roll. Ninety-five student-athletes were named to the Big Twelve Commissioner's Honor Roll. For women's athletics the team averages were: Cross Country 3.24, Tennis 3.02, Golf 2.99, Soccer 2.73, Basketball 2.62, Track 2.48, and Softball 2.30. For men's athletics the team averages were: Golf 3.17, Cross Country 2.89, Tennis 2.66, Baseball 2.65, Track 2.50, Wrestling 2.44, Basketball 2.40, and Football 1.92. The football program has had a 100% retention rate in their last two recruiting classes. The Fiscal Integrity Committee reports that in December the Athletic Department was approximately \$367,000 in the black. The Rules Committee is looking at the university's rules concerning the new NCAA regulation change allowing student-athletes to work. Work is

FACULTY COUNCIL MINUTES March 11, 1997 Page 8

continuing on the north stadium and two new soccer fields. The track will be resurfaced this spring.

Emeriti Association — A. B. Harrison

Work is continuing on the kitchen in Bennett Hall. The Emeriti Association is in favor of the Faculty Club's proposal to have a facility in which to meet.

NEW BUSINESS

Dr. Williams said that beginning last fall there was a mandate by the Board of Regents to audit grade books. This is a frightening concept. Joe Williams was one of two faculty from his department to participate in this audit. In fact it is not an audit of the grade book but a grade verification. It is a verification that the grade that appears in the faculty members grade book is the same as the grade on the transcript. There were no questions about how you decided the grade. This was discussed at the Academic Standards and Policy committee meeting and the committee would encourage the faculty to support this effort. Dr. Halligan added that OSU has approximately 20,000 students and if each get 4 grades then there are 80,000 grades to be recorded so even with a good error rate there are bound to be some errors made. The university needs to know how many errors are being made.

Dr. Allison moved for adjournment. Dr. Lawry seconded. The meeting adjourned at 4:32 p.m. The next meeting of the Faculty Council is April 8, 1997 with the Spring General Faculty Meeting on April 15, 1997.

Dennis Bertholf, Secretary	